
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/C.1/SR.3

 
 

Summary records of meetings of the First Committee 
3rd meeting 

 
Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  

the Sea, Volume II (Summary Records of Meetings of the First, Second and Third Committees, 
Second Session) 

 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



10 Second Session—First Committee

3rd meeting
Friday, 12 July 1974, at 11 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. P. B. ENGO (United Republic of Cameroon).

Statements on the international regime
and machinery (continued)

1. Mr. THOMPSON FLORES (Brazil) said that the third
reading of the draft articles would provide an excellent basis
for the negotiations the Committee would have to engage in.
2. The main questions to be settled were those related to the
powers of the Authority and those related to its structure and
to the composition and powers of its various organs.
3. His delegation thought it most important that the conven-
tion should be based on the concept of the common heritage by
vesting the authority with full responsibility for all activities to
be undertaken in the area. That was the only way to obtain full
information on all aspects of exploitation, which was essential
for the responsible regulation of production, the distribution of
revenues between the Authority and any exploiting enterprise
and, later, among States themselves. He hoped that all mem-
bers of the Committee would be prepared to recognize the
Authority as the juridical body entrusted with the responsibil-
ity of administering the area and utilizing its resources.
4. It would then be necessary to state some of the conditions
under which contracts for exploration and exploitation or as-
sociation with natural or juridical persons would be concluded.
Those conditions should ensure a reasonable tenure and return
on investments made, and should also provide for rational
management of the resources with a view to: avoiding adverse

consequences of the exploitation of sea-bed minerals on the
economies of countries with land-based production of the same
minerals, without resorting to a system of compensation which
his delegation felt was inappropriate, ensuring an effective
transfer of technology to developing countries enabling devel-
oping countries to participate in exploitation in the future and
safeguarding the area against pollution from activities in the
sea-bed.

5. Although the Authority should be given the necessary
powers to enable it to explore and exploit the area itself, it was
clear that, at least in the beginning, it would have to call on
companies or consortia which had the financial resources and
technological expertise to undertake those activities. Under
those circumstances, the Authority's contribution to any joint
venture would be the capital, in the form of the resources
themselves, and its role would be to control directly, and to
participate in, all activities, including exploitation.

6. The intention would not be to place any unreasonable
difficulty in the way of those who were ready to operate in the
area, but to ensure that mankind as a whole would benefit.
That was why, in his opinion, no veto system could be accepted
in any organ of the machinery.

7. Mr. FIGUEREDO (Venezuela) recalled that his country
had been a member of the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of
the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of Na-



3rd meeting—12 July 1974 II

tional Jurisdiction since 1971 and had participated in the dis-
cussions, negotiations and search for solutions that reflected
the concern of a number of developing countries over the ex-
pansion of a new sector of industrial activity based on the use
of modern technology. As such technology was often very
expensive, it was beyond the scope of most developing coun-
tries. Measures should therefore be taken to deal with that
situation, for otherwise the objectives of the Declaration of
Principles Governing the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor, and
the Subsoil Thereof, beyond the Limits of National Jurisdic-
tion1 would never be attained.
8. That was why Venezuela and 12 other Latin American
countries had, in their joint working paper A/AC. 138/49,2

stressed the fact that the area could never be subject to approp-
riation and that exploitation of its resources should be planned
rationally, with special regard to possible consequences for the
exports of developing countries. Subsequently, in a draft decla-
ration (A / AC. 138 / L. 11 / Rev. 1)3 submitted by several coun-
tries from the Group of 77, Venezuela had reaffirmed the same
principles for the benefit of certain large industrial enterprises
which, disregarding the fact that the area was a common heri-
tage, were trying to begin exploiting the resources immediately
simply because they had the technological resources to do it
and the unilateral permission of the State of which they were
nationals.
9. His delegation was well aware of the difficulty of estab-
lishing a new international regime for the ratio.nal exploita-
tion of the resources of such a large area. In addition, some
way must also be found to close the gap between rich and poor
countries, if it was not to be proved once again that it was
impossible, at the economic level as at the political level, to
involve the developing countries in building a new interna-
tional order based on economic and social justice. He was sure,
however, that there was a large area of agreement, and he
hoped that efforts would be redoubled to establish principles
based on the widest possible agreement.
10. Turning to various aspects of questions the Committee
would have to consider, he said, that since the fact had been
accepted that the area was the common heritage of mankind,
efforts should now be made to take a global approach to inter-
national ocean space and to keep a balance between the various
uses the international community might envisage for it; formu-
lae should be found to reconcile the traditional uses of the high
seas with the new concepts of co-operation between all nations.
It was difficult to conceive of an innovative regime for the sea-
bed while the regime of the superjacent waters based on out-
dated rules and national egoism was retained; that was why the
Authority should have the necessary powers to ensure the con-
servation of the marine environment and of its biological re-
sources.
11. The document presented by the 13 Latin American coun-
tries proposed the fundamental principles which would gov-
ern the activities of an Authority and give it wide enough
powers to play an important part in the new field of interna-
tional co-operation, particularly by authorizing direct exploita-
tion of the resources of the area, and by giving it wide powers
to intervene to prevent conflict or unfair competition between
those who had the technological resources and those whose
only hope for the future was a more equitable international
society.
12. He stressed that the machinery to be created must be
democratic and representative enough to ensure that the solu-
tions it found would not favour a small group. The Authority
should find ways of managing the exploitation of the interna-

1 General Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV).
2 Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-sixth Session,

Supplement No. 21, annex I, sect. 8.
1lbid., Twenty-seventh Session, Supplement No. 21 and corri-

gendum, annex 1, sect. 1.

tional area which would be acceptable to all and in which all
would participate, under joint control and for the benefit of all;
that basic objective could be attained only through some inter-
national public enterprise.
13. Mr. THOMAS (Trinidad and Tobago), after congratulat-
ing the Chairman on his election and Mr. Pinto on having been
chosen to guide the informal meetings of the Committee, said
that his delegation fully endorsed the programme of work pro-
posed by the Chairman. His delegation considered that the
time had come for the First Committee to confront the focal
issues before it.
14. The fundamental issue before the Committee was the
question of who should explore and exploit the international
sea-bed area beyond the limits of national jurisdiction; the
successful resolution of that issue would provide the basis for
resolving all other issues pertaining to the international regime
and machinery. To grasp fully the thrust of that question, it
should be placed in its proper perspective by a consideration of
how the international area could be explored and exploited in
the interest of the international community whose heritage it
was; and from that consideration would logically follow the
question of who might explore and exploit the area. There were
two conceptual approaches to that issue: the first envisaged a
strong International Authority with comprehensive powers,
which would govern and control the area and would by itself or
in association with others, ensure the exploration of the area
and the exploitation of its resources in the interest of the inter-
national community; the second provided for an intergovern-
mental organization with administrative status through which
States and private enterprises could explore and exploit under
contractual arrangements.
15. The draft submitted by 13 Latin American countries
(A/AC. 138/49), which the Trinidad and Tobago delegation
had introduced in the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the
Sea-bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National
Jurisdiction at Geneva in 1971, embodied the first approach
and was currently receiving increasing support from a majority
of developing countries. That approach sought to keep control
over all activities undertaken in the international area and over
all benefits from the area in the interest of the international
community; that did not, however, exclude outside co-
operation with the Authority. The other approach provided for
a relinquishing of control by the international community to
States or private entities, thus subordinating common benefit
to private interests. It would be very difficult to reconcile the
implementation of a common heritage with profits—derived
from that heritage—accruing to a small number of States and
private entities. The main difference between the two ap-
proaches was the consideration of the locus of control and the
extent of control for all activities deriving from the exploration
and exploitation of the international area.
16. It had been said at a previous meeting that the interna-
tional regime should contain certain safeguards. First, there
should be no discrimination against any Member State in
terms of the benefits derived from the exploration and exploi-
tation of the area. Secondly, there should be no individual
State sovereignty over the area or part of the area. Thirdly, all
States should have the same rights of exploration and exploita-
tion. Fourthly, the interests of developing countries should be
taken into account in the exploration and exploitation of the
area. Fifthly, no State or group of States should derive one-
sided advantages from the benefits of the international area.
His delegation considered those conditions indispensable to the
implementation of the principle of a common heritage and felt
that the fifth condition should apply to private entities and
institutions whose advanced technology had always worked to
the advantage of developed countries. In fact, the United Na-
tions, in its resolutions on the question, and especially in reso-
lution 2749 (XXV), had recognized the need to take special
account of the interest of developing countries. In the light of



12 Second Session—First Committee

the technological advantages of certain States, the implementa-
tion of those safeguards and conditions would be difficult to
guarantee without control by an International Authority. It
was perhaps in those very safeguards and conditions that the
fundamental differences could be resolved. Any regime provid-
ing the necessary safeguards to subordinate the interests of
individual States, groups of States, private entities and institu-
tions to the interests of the international community would be
consistent with the concept of the common heritage.

17. He suggested that the Committee should shift its perspec-
tive to a consideration of those fundamental safeguards and
conditions in an attempt to resolve the question of who should
exploit the international sea-bed area. He proposed that dele-
gations holding divergent views should meet and try to find
common ground, basing their discussions on those funda-
mental safeguards which would preserve the principle of the
common heritage. The proponents of a particular system
would then indicate how they thought their system would pro-
vide such safeguards.

18. He thought that two other questions would gain in-
creasing importance in the course of the Committee's discus-
sions: first, the structure of the International Authority, in so
far as the composition and status of its principal organs were
concerned, and secondly, the over-all structure of the Au-
thority. The former question had already been studied in
depth, so he would limit himself to a few comments on the
latter.

19. Certain delegations were in favour of an institutional
structure parallel to that of the United Nations. That did not
seem a wise course, since the International Authority would be
concerned not merely with the administration of the area but
also with commercial activities, and its structure should there-
fore be adapted to that aim. Moreover, the concept of such an
Authority was novel and therefore offered a challenge for new
initiatives. Lastly, it offered to developing countries, for the
first time, an opportunity to contribute fully to the creation of
an organization which would be most likely to promote their
own economic interests and those of future generations. Undue
imitation of the United Nations system would not fully achieve
that goal, and furthermore there was the risk of perpetuating
the defects of the United Nations system, which was not de-
signed to promote the type of comprehensive economic under-
taking that the International Sea-Bed Authority promised.

20. He expressed concern with respect to three proposals by
certain delegations—the implied veto in the council's opera-
tions, weighted voting, and considerations of geographic size
and population of countries in determining their political
strength in the organization. Such manoeuvres were essentially
political and should find no place in the genuine pursuit of the
economic development of developing countries; they might
conceivably even do violence to the implementation of the
common heritage. To entrust the management of the common
heritage to developed countries, however benevolent, was illog-
ical and unjust and was merely a perpetuation of the United
Nations system with all its inherent defects, a return, indeed, to
the status quo.

21. The CHAIRMAN said he proposed to call on the repre-
sentative of the International Ocean Institute and, if there were
no objections, he would consider that the Committee accepted
that proposal.

// was so decided.

22. Mrs. MANN BORGESE (International Ocean Institute)
said that the non-governmental organization which she repre-
sented had been established two years previously in co-
operation with the Royal University of Malta and the United
Nations Development Programme. It was governed by an in-
ternational Board of Trustees, whose Chairman was Mr.

Amerasinghe of Sri Lanka. The Institute's work was conducted
by an international planning council, a number of whose mem-
bers were present as delegates to the Law of the Sea Confer-
ence. Their work had been strongly influenced by the concept
of the ecological unity of the world ocean system, the implica-
tions of technological advance and the growing interactions of
all uses of ocean space and the exploitation of its resources.
The Institute was convinced of the need for a new and syste-
matic approach to ocean affairs.

23. Having regard to the Institute's experience, to General
Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV) and the Committee's terms of
reference, she wished to stress the need to create not merely an
Authority which would be occupied purely with the sea-bed
but an organization which would concern itself with ocean
space in general. As the Conference appeared to be moving
towards a consensus in favour of the creation of an economic
zone or patrimonial sea, the question of the International,Sea-
Bed Authority should be approached from a different angle, as
the common heritage of mankind was not the same as it had
been in 1970, when the Declaration of Principles had been
adopted. At that time it comprised more than three quarters of
ocean space and constituted a very considerable economic po-
tential which would have enabled the poorer nations to derive
significant financial benefits from operations in the interna-
tional zone. The size and resources of the area would also have
made possible effective international measures for the control
of marine pollution, and for independent research leading to
effective scientific and technological transfers. The Sea-Bed
Authority now envisaged was entirely different; to some dele-
gations it seemed that its single function, at least for the next
few decades, was the mining of manganese nodules. Further,
not more than half-a-dozen countries and scarcely more than a
dozen companies had the capability to engage in nodule
mining, the revenue from which might be expected to vary be-
tween 50 and 200 million dollars a year, a revenue not much
larger than would be required to cover the operating costs of
the future authority, and certainly insufficient to effect any
significant distribution of financial benefits. Consequently, the
Conference should not envisage complex and costly ma-
chinery, in the operation of which the developing countries
would have very little to say, and which would be incapable of
fulfilling effectively the functions of scientific and technological
transfer which were desired by many countries; in other words
the Sea-Bed Authority which they were discussing could in no
way embody the principles adopted in 1970, and would be inca-
pable of filling the jurisdictional and managerial vacuum in the
law of the sea.

24. However, there was no cause for pessimism or for any
departure from the Declaration of Principles. If the Interna-
tional Authority governing the area beyond the limits of the
economic zone was to be economically viable, if it was to be
useful to the international community, if the developing na-
tions were to have their share in decision-taking and receive
their share of the financial benefits, they must pass from the
concept of a single-purpose sea-bed regime to that of a multi-
purpose ocean-space regime and machinery. There were
further reasons why the extension of the concept of a sea-bed
regime was the logical and inevitable consequence of the adop-
tion of the concept of the economic zone. In the technologically
more advanced countries new forms of coastal management
were evolving in order to co-ordinate and harmonize all uses of
national ocean space, to integrate ocean-based ecology and
economy with land-based ecology and economy, thus creating
new forms of co-operation between local, regional and national
government and between scientific, industrial and administra-
tive organs. It would seem meaningless that such a "coastal
management" should be confronted with an array of frag-
mented organizations and competences in international ocean
space. The two sectors, national and international, would not
integrate. Sectoral and overlapping competences, as well as



4th meeting—15 July 1974 13

competence gaps, would render the international sector totally 26. She would deal on a future occasion with the question of
ineffective. the structure of the organization and the functions it should
25. The extension of the concept of a common heritage of the have to enable it to interlink effectively with the coastal man-
sea-bed to one of ocean space did not mean that the prepara- agement system regulating the interaction of all uses of na-
tory work had been wasted, as all provisions adopted and tional ocean sPace and resources,
agreements reached could be incorporated in a wider frame-
work. The meeting rose at 12 noon.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


